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Thursday, March 12, 2009

--- On commencing at 1:31 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

Good afternoon, everyone.  Canadian Niagara Power Inc., or CNPI, has filed rate applications for Fort Erie, Port Colborne and Eastern Ontario Power.  The three applications have been combined.


We are sitting today, pursuant to Procedural Order No. 5, to receive submissions and argument regarding a motion filed by the School Energy Coalition, or Schools or SEC, for the Board to compel the applicant to answer or answer more fully certain interrogatories.

With me today is Board member Ken Quesnelle.  Could I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. TAYLOR:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chair.  My name is Andrew Taylor, counsel for Canadian Niagara Power Inc.  I am here with Christine Kilby from my office, Ogilvy Renault, and, as well, Scott Hawkes and Douglas Bradbury from Canadian Niagara Power Inc.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.

MR. De VELLIS:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman.

Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman.  John DeVellis for the School Energy Coalition.  With me is Jay Shepherd, also on behalf of School Energy Coalition.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.

MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh, Energy Probe Research Foundation.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

MS. COCHRANE:  Ljuba Cochrane, Board counsel.  With me is Lee Harmer, Board Staff.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Cochrane.  Anyone else?  There being no response, could I ask the parties that made appearances, except the applicant and Mr. DeVellis, the level of participation?  Mr. Buonaguro, are you going to be active, sir?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I might make very brief submissions in support of the School Energy Coalition, but it's their motion.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Mr. MacIntosh.

MR. MACINTOSH:  I am here basically in support of Schools.  I might make a brief submission, but that's all.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Ms. Cochrane?

MS. COCHRANE:  Board Staff may have some brief submissions after all of the other parties have made their submissions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  That helps.

We will proceed hearing the motion under three groupings that have been -- as articulated in the Procedural Order No. 5.

We will finish each category, each of the groupings, and then before we move on to the next one, I think that is probably the most -- it would make sense to proceed that way.

The Panel wish to be in a position at the end of the day today to perhaps issue an oral decision, so I would ask you to be guided by that.

The availability of hearing room and Panel time and intervenor time is pretty tight going forward, so we would like to finish today and be able to issue a decision today.  I, for one, am concerned about the time that this application has taken, so the sooner we put those matters to bed, the better.

With that, then, I guess I would turn to Mr. DeVellis.  Can you tell us, sir, how long you are going to be?

MR. De VELLIS:  Well, I had estimated approximately an hour in total, but that was in total for the three categories.  I appreciate that's maybe a little bit longer than you had hoped for, but the reason for that is that I would have to break -- I would like to be able to address sort of the omnibus submissions made by Canadian Niagara Power Inc. in its written submissions to you, which we received, I believe, Monday evening.


So we didn't have a chance to do reply submissions back to you, so I would like to address those -- to address those before turning to the individual questions that we have asked.  So that will take a little bit of time to do.  So with your indulgence, that is my estimate.

MR. VLAHOS:  So you're going to cover each and every question that you have asked --

MR. De VELLIS:  Unless the Board feels they don't need to hear from me on each question.  What I planned to do was address the general submission made by Canadian Niagara Power - that is the issue of the -- the tax issue and the issue estoppel issue with respect to the category 1 questions, and then turn to each one.


I assume the Board would want to hear from me with respect to the relevance of the particular questions we have asked.  If the Board feels that is not necessary, then that's fine.

MR. VLAHOS:  My preference is to keep it at a high level.  There are groupings.  There are specific questions within those groupings, general questions.

I would be quite happy if you just focussed on the non-specifics --

MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.

MR. VLAHOS:  -- the non-specific questions.  Do assume that we have read every page, every word of your motion, as well as CNPI's reply submissions.

So I guess anything in addition to what you already said, that would be something that I would like you to focus on.

MR. De VELLIS:  That's fair enough.  If the Board feels that other than the issues that have been raised by Canadian Niagara Power - that is being the issue estoppel issue and tax issues - the relevance of the questions we have asked is other than self evident and I don't need to go through each question and say why we think this question is relevant to this issue generally, then that's fine.  I could proceed on that basis and only address the -- sort of the higher level submissions of Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. VLAHOS:  Let's try that, because I am concerned about an hour to start off with, because there will be an opportunity to get back in response to Mr. Taylor.  So one hour is just too long.

MR. De VELLIS:  In fairness, I thought it would be more fair to the applicant for me to put all of my submissions up front so they could address them in reply, if need be, rather than wait until reply when I already know, you know, in terms of what I am going to say in reply to their written submissions.  That's why I estimated a longer in-chief argument.  But I understand --

MR. VLAHOS:  In any event, you have heard my comments.

MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  So you will be guided accordingly.

MR. De VELLIS:  Yes, thank you.
Preliminary Matters:

MR. TAYLOR:  Mr. Chair, before we start, there are a couple of preliminary issues that we would like to bring to your attention.

The first is I was surprised when I saw there was an affidavit in the SEC's motion materials that was sworn by Mr. Shepherd.

Mr. Shepherd, in that affidavit, was providing information as an expert on tax.  I don't deny that Mr. Shepherd does have expertise on tax matters.  However, Mr. Shepherd is inherently biased in this proceeding.  He acts for the moving party, the School Energy Coalition.  He is presumably paid by the School Energy Coalition.

Therefore, the opinion evidence provided by Mr. Shepherd in his affidavit is not independent in any way whatsoever, and, as such, we would request that the Board give that evidence the appropriate weight it deserves.  At the very least, we would expect that it would be treated as argument as opposed to evidence.

That's preliminary issue number 1.  If you have any questions before I --

MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine, Mr. Taylor.  Mr. DeVellis, anything to respond to that?  That was my expectation, that there will be no cross-examination on the affidavit, but, rather, just hear submissions and argument on what has been filed.

MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  So Mr. Taylor just repeats my thinking on it.

MR. De VELLIS:  Our purpose in putting that affidavit forward was simply to provide background for the questions and the reasons we were asking those questions.  I take Mr. Taylor's point.  We don't put Mr. Shepherd forward as an independent expert.  However, he does have obvious expertise in the area of tax law, and so we thought that his point of view would be beneficial to the Board and that's the reason we put his affidavit forward.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, thank you.  We will consider that and we will view that as background, Mr. Taylor.  Is that okay with you?

MR. TAYLOR:  Sure.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

MR. TAYLOR:  The second issue is about a technical -- a computer technical problem that we face.

As part of our motion materials, we filed an advance tax ruling, and there is information in the tax ruling that we did not want to provide and we redacted certain portions, and that was pricing information of the Port Colborne Hydro Inc. facilities.

That's actually the very information -- some of the very information that the School Energy Coalition is trying to obtain through this motion.

So we redacted that advance tax ruling.  We filed it with the Board and we sent it electronically to the intervenors.  We learned after the fact that although on the computer screen it looks redacted, when you print it, the redaction disappears and you can see everything behind the redaction.

So that being said, whether or not the School Energy Coalition or any of the other intervenors have caught on to that technical glitch, I am sure they would have sooner or later.  We wanted to bring this to your attention because if the Board, in this motion, decides that CNPI should not be compelled to provide the information requested by SEC, then just because SEC happened to obtain that information as a result of a computer glitch, doesn't mean that they should be able to use that information in the context of the proceeding.


Now, obviously if the Board finds today that we are compelled to provide that information, they would have gotten it anyways and they would be able to use it.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I just wanted to confirm which material we're talking about, because I have the book that was distributed by the applicant today on the motion, and I am assuming you're talking about tab 8?


MR. TAYLOR:  We are talking about tab 8.  The hard copy that we sent to you is redacted.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. TAYLOR:  The electronic copy we sent to you had the computer error.  This would be tab 8 of our materials the advanced tax ruling.  At paragraph 11 is the first instance of a redaction.  It will be redacted in your copy as well, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, Mr. Taylor, I suspect you learn first they are lawyers, and I am sure they will treat the information accordingly.  If they receive it indeed in such a format, that they will do whatever is possible to not to communicate it or to discard that information.  That is on the assumption that the Board does not find that this information be provided.  So I don't know what else we can say, from this end, from the dais, but something I guess that you can deal with with your friends.


MR. De VELLIS:  The difficulty I have, Mr. Chairman, I hadn’t received the paper copy until yesterday evening.  I had been working off of the electronic copy all of yesterday so I wasn't aware there was a redaction, frankly.


So but as far as we're concerned, the matter’s already been provided to us and the law of prejudice is once it is disclosed to the other side.  I am not even sure this is a prejudice issue, but it has already been disclosed to us.  I frankly had worked some of the information into any submissions to you today, assuming that you had had the same copy that I had.


So you know in our view --

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. DeVellis.  We don't have the numbers?


MR. De VELLIS:  No, you don't.  But I do.  I had been working off the electronic version, which is what Mr. Taylor just explained -- the electronic version was not redacted, so I had no idea there was even a redaction.

MR. TAYLOR:  The electronic version was clearly redacted but Mr. DeVellis probably printed the electronic version.

Submissions by Mr. DeVellis:


MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Unfortunately there were two numbers I was going to rely on, but I will try and proceed without relying on the specific numbers.  As I said, with respect to the first category of question, my client wants to address the overall sort of the omnibus submissions made by Canadian Niagara Power first, and then turn to the specific questions later, but I understand your view, Mr. Chairman, so I will not address specific questions.

Before I turn to my submissions in response to Canadian Niagara Power’s submissions, I just want to provide some background about this issue.   The issue pertains to a lease signed between Canadian Niagara Power and Port Colborne Hydro and the city of Port Colborne.   We don’t know the book value at the time of the lease.   We do know that as of February 2000, the net book value - I don’t think this number is private, is confidential - is $8.8 million and I apologize, I have a book of documents I gave to Board Counsel earlier.  Perhaps that can be marked as an exhibit.


MS. COCHRANE:  If we can make this the first exhibit in this proceeding, so it will be Exhibit 1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. 1.1:  BOOK OF DOCUMENTS OF SEC


MR. De VELLIS:  What this booklet is, is excerpts from the 2001 MAAD application which Canadian Niagara Power applied to the Board for approval of its lease with Port Colborne Hydro and there are some other documents as well in the booklet, which are certain interrogatory responses from this proceeding which I have just included for ease of reference, and some, an excerpt from this Board's decision in the storm damage case from 2006, or I guess the decision came out in 2007 and that was EB-2007-0514, which I will just refer to briefly a little later in my submissions.

So the $8.8 million figure I just quoted was as of February 2000.  That was two years before the lease was entered into.  And if you could turn to page 12 of our booklet.  You will see the net book value of the assets was approximately – of Port Colborne Hydro, as of February 2000 was approximately $8.9 ^million.  As I said, that was in February of 2000.  We don't know the net book value as of 2002 when the lease was signed.  However, we can assume it was something less than 8.9 million.

And, as far as the value today, again, this is somewhere -- this is an area where I was going to turn to the now confidential numbers, but as far as the value today goes, we can assume it is substantially -- the net book value of the assets, we can assume they're substantially less than 8.9 million.

We estimate approximately - again, this is just an estimate based on a straight-line depreciation -approximately $5 million.

So the reason I am introducing these numbers is that is the number that would be in rate base and would -- and upon which ratepayers would be asked to pay a rate of return if the transaction had been structured as a sale as opposed to a lease.

So, in our view, that is a number that if we are going to be examining the -- whether the lease payments are just and reasonable, you would, in our view, look at the lease payments and compare it to the amount that ratepayers would pay if the amount -- if the transaction had been structured as a sale transaction.

So the lease payments are $127,350 per month, or $1.5 million -- $1.58 million per year.  As I say, that is -- so $1.5 million a year is what ratepayers are asked to pay on assets that now have a net book value of approximately $5 million.

So the crux of the issue for us is the Board needs to see whether the result of the lease is that ratepayers are paying in rates an amount that is far in excess of what they would be paying had the transaction been structured as a sale transaction; that is, rather than paying largely regulated rate of return on rate base, whether they're being asked to pay a much higher rate of return in the form of lease payments.

This issue has important implications for the Board.  Know, for example, there have been and likely will be a continuing rationalization of electricity distributors, an increasing number of mergers in the electricity distribution industry.  If prospective purchasers can avoid the Board's regulated rate of return by structuring their transaction in the form of a lease, then we could see if the Board's concept of a regulated rate of return is being compromised.

Why would anybody, for example, purchase an electricity distributor as a sale transaction when they could do it as a lease, and, in doing so, achieve a far higher rate of return than they would achieve having it done as a sale?

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, wouldn't it also hold true that if back in the beginning of the life of the arrangement that if you were to do a rate base, ratemaking, then rates would have been higher?

MR. De VELLIS:  Well, I mean, that's something that we don't know.  That's one of the reasons we would like to examine this.  But I will say the rates were not changed when this application was approved in 2002.

The Board simply incorporated the existing rate structure -- rate order into the new franchise holder, which is Canadian Niagara Power.  The Board didn't enquire into rates at all, which is -- I was going to get to this when I got to the issue estoppel issue, but this issue of what the rates -- the rate implications of this transaction has never been examined.  So that is one of the reasons we say the Board should examine it now.

MR. VLAHOS:  Just on that, Mr. DeVellis, this is a ten-year lease, I understand, that commenced in 2002?

MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  2001, 2002?

MR. De VELLIS:  2002 it commenced.

MR. VLAHOS:  So it ends in I guess a couple of years, less than a couple of years?

MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  So you're saying this thing has never been examined.  That's eight years out of ten.  Why today as opposed to what happens in two years time?

MR. De VELLIS:  Well, the reason today is because we are facing now rates for the 2009 rate year, and then another three years of incentive regulation ratemaking in which the lease payments today will be based into rates for the next four rate years.  So we think the Board should examine this now and ask itself -- in fact, the Board's obligation in this proceeding is to determine whether the lease payments represent just and reasonable rates to ratepayers.

MR. VLAHOS:  It is interesting the assumption why it would have to be in place for four years if this is such a unique issue.  The lease has to be renegotiated.  It could be a purchase.  I don't know what the provisions of the lease are, but it could be a total purchase.  Whatever the case may be, there has to be a section 81 application before the Board.

So why is your assumption that this arrangement, rate arrangement, that we're going to have after this proceeding will last for four years?

MR. De VELLIS:  I assume because that's normal Board practice.  Whatever is before you in the rebasing application, if the lease payments are $127,000 a month, that's what gets baked into rates for the rate year, and because after the rate year we're going to be in incentive regulation, the rates subsequently will be based on whatever the cost of service is for this year.

If something happens in 2012, that may or may not affect what the rates will be at that time.  But, in any case, for at least between now and 2012, the rates that ratepayers would be paying would be based on the amount of the lease payments.

So our position is, if that's the case, then this Board has an obligation to examine whether the lease payments represent just and reasonable rates to ratepayers.  And the way to do that, we feel, is to examine the reasons behind the transaction, why it was structured as a sale versus a lease, and any other documents that are related to that.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But Schools could argue in the course of the proceeding that because of the unique circumstances of this utility, that whatever rate decision comes out, it does not have to survive four years.  Potentially, that is something you could argue.

MR. De VELLIS:  That's true.  We could argue that.  But, I mean, I don't see how that would fit into the Board's incentive regulation framework.

Assuming something happens between -- that is assuming something happens between now and 2012 that would change the status quo.  There is no indication that that will happen.  All of the indications -- the evidence is the lease is in place between now and 2012.  So even if we made that argument, there would be no basis for it.  The rates are what they are.

So we need to start -- our position is we need to examine at the outset whether the rates are just and reasonable, whether the lease payments are just and reasonable.

MR. VLAHOS:  Hold on.  Now, the lease terminates when, Mr. Taylor?

MR. TAYLOR:  In 2012.

MR. VLAHOS:  2012.  So that's the '12 rate year.  So it would have to be the 2012 rate year?  So we're talking about three years.  Are we talking about '9 and '10 and '11, so three years?

MR. TAYLOR:  I think three years, Mr. Chair, yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, go ahead, Mr. DeVellis.

MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you.  Now I would like to turn to some of the arguments that Canadian Niagara Power has made, primarily at tab 3 of its motion record.  The first issue is with respect to the tax issue, and that is whether or not, from a tax perspective, this transaction meets the test of a sale as opposed to a lease.

What Canadian Niagara Power has argued - and Mr. Taylor will correct me if I am paraphrasing this wrongly - the transaction meets the test, legal test, for a sale versus a lease transaction.  And this, I suppose, is a subset of the larger issue of issue estoppel, which I will turn to in a moment, because essentially what CNPI is arguing is that the tax people have already found that this transaction is a true lease and, therefore, you can't look into it.

Well, frankly, we don't quarrel necessarily with the Ministry of Finance's ruling, except that the legal test for tax purposes does not contain a just and reasonable provision, which is what this Board is charged with determining.

If the result of this transaction is that ratepayers are asked to pay an amount that is not just and reasonable, and by that we use the benchmark of what the costs would have been had the transaction been structured as a sale, because that's in our view the most logical comparator, then the Board is entitled to say for that for rate-making purposes, this transaction is really a sale and we're going to treat it in rates as if it were a sale.

So the tax finding is not determinative, in our view, because this Board is charged with determining whether the impact of the transaction on ratepayers is just and reasonable.

It may be perfectly fine from a tax planning point of view, as far as the tax authorities are concerned, but that doesn't mean that the result is just and reasonable rates for ratepayers.

The next point that Canadian Niagara Power makes with respect to issue estoppel -- and essentially what they're arguing is that the issue has already been decided by a previous Board, and that precludes this Board from examining it.

And they're referring to the 2006 rate proceeding, but, in fact, there were two previous decisions in respect to this issue.

Let me say that in our view, the specific issue of the rate impact of the lease transaction has never been considered by the Board.

I will take you to the 2002 decision approving the transaction, and that, a copy is at tab 4 of CNP's motion record.  That is the point I alluded to earlier, and that what the Board said in that decision as Page 5 says that:
"Canadian Niagara Power shall charge rates in the service area within the municipal boundaries of the City of Port Colborne in accordance with the rate schedule attached as appendix C."

If you go to appendix C you will see that rate schedule is effective March 1st, 2002.  So what the Board did was simply incorporate the existing rate schedule and say, Fine, your transaction is approved but you have to keep charging the existing rates.  So there was no examination of the rate impact of the transaction.  And that actually, the Board in that -- the Board would not have looked into it, because you know if the Board is going to reset rates it wouldn't look at a single issue.  It would obviously have to look at all of the costs and revenues because otherwise you would be involved in a single issue ratemaking situation.  The Board doesn't do that.  The Board was looking at a specific issue, approve the transaction, and it did not look at the rate impacts.



Now, with respect to the 2002 decision, again -- sorry, 2006 rate decision, that is -- a copy of that decision is at the, is at tab 7 of the Canadian Niagara Power's motion record.  Again, no mention of the sale or the lease payments specifically.

So in our view, the issue estoppel argument, the test has not been met for issue estoppel.  If we step away from the formal test, if I look at what the public policy objectives of the issue estoppel is, we will see that the implication from Canadian Niagara Power that you are precluded from looking at this issue is unreasonable, in our view.

If I could ask the Board to turn to tab 9 of our motion record.  This is the Rasanen decision which has also been referred to by Canadian Niagara Power.

This is a decision where the court found that tribunal decisions can be binding, previous tribunal decisions can be binding on future tribunals.

However, the court articulated what the public policy objectives of issue estoppel are, and that is at the bottom of paragraph 37 at page 10 of the decision.

The court says:
"The policy objectives underlying issue estoppel are avoiding duplicative litigation, inconsistent results, undue costs, and inconclusive proceedings."

In our view, none of those policy objectives would be hindered if the matters were heard in this proceeding.  There are no duplications, the matter was never heard before and similar, there are no inconsistent results or undue costs.  In addition the whole concept of issue estoppel does not fit with the Board's mandate to fix just and reasonable rates.

The whole process requires the Board to consider all of the applicant's costs and revenues to determine just and reasonable rates for the test period.

In doing so, the Board necessarily reviews matters it has reviewed in the past.  In fact, if Canadian Niagara Power's position were adopted that would mean the Board in every rate proceeding would have to look at previous decisions to see where issues that are currently included in -- or questions that are currently included in the Board's -- in the applicant's revenues or costs were previously considered in other proceedings.  The Board doesn't do that.  It looks as every case fresh and examines whether the costs and revenues before it are just and reasonable for the test period.

In addition, the Board of course has the discretion to refuse to apply issue estoppel in order to avoid an injustice.

That issue, that concept is articulated in the Danyluk decision, which is at tab 10 of our motion record.  If I could ask the Board to turn to paragraph 62 and 63 of that decision.

This is page 19 and 20 of the decision, right at the bottom of page 19, in is a decision of the Supreme Court of Canada, the Supreme Court says:
"In my view, the discretion...”
- that is, the discretion not to uphold issue estoppel –
“...is necessarily broader in a relation to prior decisions of administrative tribunals because of the enormous range and diversity of the structures, mandates and procedures of administrative decision makers."


We certainly think that that applies with respect to rate proceedings before this Board.

And the next passage I would like to refer you to, the bottom of page 20, that is where the court articulates the issue of injustice and what the court says is:
"One of the purposes of estoppel being to work justice between the parties, it is open to courts to recognize in special circumstances inflexible application of it may have the opposite result."

Now, Canadian Niagara Power has argued that it would suffer injustice if the lease were revisited during this proceeding, or visited for the first time, in our view.

That implies that Canadian Niagara Power took some action to organize their affairs in accordance with the 2006 decision.  In fact, all they did is maintain the status quo at that time, and in our view, what they've gotten is three years of the lease payments being included in their rates when perhaps if they had been examined at that time, it wouldn't have been.  So they have gotten the benefit of the last three years of having these amounts included in rates without an in-depth examination.

In our submission there would be a greater injustice to ratepayers if these documents disclose the amounts included in rates are not just and reasonable, but they're nonetheless required to continue paying them on the basis of the 2006 decision which, as I said, did not explicitly consider the issue.



As an example of that potential injustice, let me point out, reiterate a couple of points that I made at the beginning.  The net book value of these assets we estimate is approximately $5 million for 2009 rate year.

On that net book value of $5 million, ratepayers are being asked to pay lease payments of $1.58 million per year.  In our view, that is much higher than they would be required to pay had the assets been included in rate base.

In addition, in the 2006 storm damage case, Canadian Niagara Power received permission -- compensation for storm damage costs in the amount of $253,000 for Port Colborne.

The assets that were destroyed, however, were never in rate base because they were and continue to be included under the assets for which ratepayers are now paging lease payments.  So ratepayers -- whereas the other applicants in that proceeding were directed to remove the assets that were destroyed because they were no longer used and useful. They had to remove them from their rate base and they received compensation for the costs of -- that resulted from the storm damage.  But Canadian Niagara Power didn't do that, because the assets weren’t in rate base.  So ratepayers continued to pay the lease payments that they had before, in addition to which they paid compensation to Canadian Niagara Power in the amount of $253,000 for the damage caused by the storms.

The specific reference of the $250,000 is in our booklet.  I don't think you need to turn it, but for just completeness of the record, it is at page 29 of our Exhibit 1.1, which is page 4 of the storm damage decision.

Now, I point out these two examples because we had at least some indication that this transaction may not be fair to ratepayers.  Whatever happened in the past, it would be unjust to let the matter continue without examining the issue further.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, so if the rates are inflated, if you like, then who benefits out of this?  Who is the recipient of this economic --

MR. De VELLIS:  Well, I suppose the City of Port Colborne is ultimately, because they're the ones that get the inflated rate of return, and obviously the ratepayers would be the ones --

MR. VLAHOS:  That's the connection I am trying to make.  So it's not the applicant?

MR. De VELLIS:  Well, Port Colborne Hydro is actually a co-applicant in this proceeding.  So Port Colborne Hydro is the entity that's receiving the lease payments.

So as a co-applicant, yes, they would be benefitting from the higher, super-economic rent.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. De VELLIS:  Right.  I mean, whoever receives the economic rent, the point is if there is a premium above what is just and reasonable, the ratepayers shouldn't have to pay it.

MR. VLAHOS:  I understand that argument.  I am just trying to determine as to who is the beneficiary of that premium.

MR. De VELLIS:  Right.

MR. VLAHOS:  You're saying it is ultimately the municipality, the owner of the electricity system?

MR. De VELLIS:  Right.

There was one other point I wanted to make.  It was going to be in the context of these specific questions.  I am just trying to find that.

Okay, that's fine.  Those are my submissions sort of at a high level.  I had planned on turning to the specific questions, but I understand the Board prefers not to hear that at this time, so those are my submissions on that issue.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Mr. Buonaguro?
Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Just following up on the last question from the Panel about who benefits from the current arrangement, I think just in listening to this as it is progressing, but that is part of what the Board needs to understand before they include these amounts in rates, and that's part of what's going to be cleared up if the company is required to provide these documents.


It would be looking at exactly what is the real and full rationale for this particular structure, and then compare that to what would normally happen in a rate-making process when transferring assets on a sale, and determine what's best for everybody.

I think we want to see the whole picture, and the whole picture isn't before the Board right now.  What we have is the basic structure of the transaction, and the implications that the company is putting forward is to be included in rates as a lease expense.  We're not seeing necessarily the entire rationale and how it was, quote/unquote sold to the company, to Port Colborne, in the first place to do it as a lease versus a sale.

We think that that would be valuable for the Board to see, because it is possible that at the end of the day, even after reviewing these documents, that the Board could decide the lease payment -- to include the lease payments as lease payments at $1.58 million per year in rates is just and reasonable, but then it would also have the benefit of the documents and the rationale for doing it that way in the first place to explain to ratepayers why it doing that instead of, as Mr. De Vellis points out, including $5 million in rate base, which would be much less than $1.58 million per year, as I understand it.

So even if you don't necessarily at the end of the day agree with the alternative that the School Energy Coalition is putting forward, you would have the benefit of the entire picture to describe to ratepayers, in general, why this is a good way of doing it, as opposed to the alternative.

I think that is an important point in terms of this stage of the proceeding, which is producing documents.  What we want right now is information and make our arguments later.  And it is true that you need to know what kind of arguments are open to the applicant and to the intervenors to make at the end of the day, but it is also important for the Board to have the proper information in front of it so they can justify whatever decision it does make.

On the issue specifically of issue estoppel, my experience with the Board is that while -- as a matter of practice, it is often the case that we don't examine every detail of an application every time that a company comes before it, because it's been decided before.  It's been heard before.

The specific example that comes to mind is Hydro One Transmission.  Two years ago, there were a number of items that were specifically reviewed and there were a number of decisions made for the company, and those items aren't contentious issues in their current rate application, but that doesn't mean that they're not at issue, because every time the Board, in our view, engages in its statutory power to establish just and reasonable rates, it is doing so from scratch.

While it is helpful and practical to rely on previous decisions and previous reasonings and previous sets of evidence, and to provide shortcuts to rate proceedings, that doesn't mean that if somebody has an issue to raise in those same areas again in a new proceeding that the Board can -- or that the Board is prevented from looking into it again.

There are numerous issues I can identify off the top of my head where the Board is confronted with the same issue in multiple proceedings over the course of a number of years and may confirm and reconfirm its thinking each time, but that doesn't mean the Board doesn't you go through the exercise.

And the one example that comes to mind is risk management in the gas sector, and I have Energy Probe on the other side.

Risk management was examined in particular utilities, with generally the same arguments every year for a number of years, and it wasn't an issue estoppel issue.  It was the Board -- the companies were coming forward for rates that were just and reasonable.  Those rates included an amount for risk management.

The rationale for including risk management costs was the same every year, but they still -- the Board has still an obligation to take a look at it fresh each time.  And we obviously know what happened in risk management in the gas sector, that after five, six, seven years of re-examining it, the Board changed its mind.


And I think that is all that is happening here is that there is a possibility that the Board may change the way that these costs are incorporated into rates this time, but to get to that point, you have to have the information to make a reasonable decision on that.

If you don't require production of these documents now, then you won't have -- you won't be able to say to ratepayers and to School Energy Coalition, in particular, that the decision to keep it in rates was based on the full picture.  All you will be saying is that it was based on the fact that two years ago or seven years ago, the Board never really turned its mind to the issue, and too bad for you.

Those are all of my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Just an observation as you were talking.  What is different in some of the cases for electricity is that we don't really go through the formal process of an issues list, as such.  I don't think we have done it in this case.  I think we have done that in PowerStream today, but we haven't done that traditionally in the case of electricity distributors.

So, you know, that would have been, I guess, a home for kind of a debate of whether or not that specific issue should be on the issues list as opposed to now it has come through interrogatories.

I am reminded of this because of what you said about the risk management for the gas industry, that, yes, that was sort of the issue as to what issues should be allowed on the table going forward.  We haven't had that benefit in this case, because it went straight to the interrogatories, which is not unusual in most of the applications for electricity rate --

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I may, I think you are right.

I think -- but what the issues list is really an illustration of is the fact that underlying every rate application, everything is at issue.  And all the issues list tells you is that once the parties have got together and thought about what they're actually concerned about in this particular case, based on the overall context of what is being applied for, that only certain things are potentially contentious.

Even then, the issues list often has items which nobody makes submissions on and everybody accepts, based on the applicant's evidence, without any cross-examination.  It happens.

The clearest example would be when a company comes forward with an application based on return on equity that is based entirely on the Board's existing policy.  Nobody generally opposes that, but they could.  Even though the Board previously decided for those companies that that would be possible, they would have probably a high burden to dislodge the status quo given the Board has spent a lot time establishing its policy on ROE and it is a well-reasoned, presumably, structure, but technically it is still at issue.

In this case we're talking about something that was never identified as being an issue and therefore the Board has never really turned its mind to it, in terms of accounting for lease payments versus a sale in rates.  At least I am not aware of it ever having been -- the Board ever actually turning its mind to it.

I think you are right; if there had been an issues day, then obviously the School Energy Coalition would have raised this as an issue and we would be debating this on issues days instead of on a motion, but that is procedural.  I don't think it affects the substantive issue which is that everything in a rates case is at issue.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Mr. MacIntosh.
Submissions by Mr. MacIntosh:


MR. ^MACINTOSH:  Mr. Chair, I won't repeat the submissions of Mr. DeVellis.  However, in support of School Energy Coalition, Energy Probe submits that in order for the Board to determine just and reasonable rates, it is necessary to determine the components of those rates.  Whether CNPI is leasing or in fact purchasing Port Colborne Hydro is a matter of interest in this proceeding.


Is CNPI purchasing Port Colborne Hydro through a component of rates labelled lease payments?


And in respect of the panel's question:  Who benefits from this arrangement?  That, we submit, is to be determined in this proceeding.  It appears to Energy Probe that it is not the ratepayers.


Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.


Ms. Cochrane, are you going to go next?

Submissions by Ms. Cochrane:


MS. COCHRANE:  Just a very brief submission on this first issue, Mr. Chair.


Board Staff is of the view that the 2002 MAADs decision which is produced at tab 4 of CNPI's motion material, that decision specifically, the Board granted leave to CNP – no -- granted leave to Port Colborne Hydro to lease its asset to CNP and the point number 6 of the Board's decision and order required CNP to advise the Board of the adjusted monthly lease payments, which I don't have on the record right now, but if that had been done, and the Board did not raise any concern or reverse its decision on that basis, would have been the Board's approval of the proposed lease transaction and the amount of the lease payments.


In Board Staff's view, that 2002 MAADs decision formed the basis for CNP proceeding to structure its affairs in a certain way on the assumption that had Board approval, it would not be in the interests of regulatory certainty at this stage to revisit a decision that another panel of this Board made, and to substitute its own decision for that of an earlier panel.


Those are my submissions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Cochrane.  Mr. Taylor.

Submissions by Mr. Taylor:


MR. TAYLOR:  Mr. Chair, I am going to divide my submission into two parts, so that there is no confusion as to where I am going and whether there is overlap.


The first part is about the lease versus sale, and then the second part is going to be about issue estoppel.


I look at these issues as separate.


In regard to the sale versus lease, what I hear the moving party saying is that, in order to set just and reasonable rates, you have to look at what amount should be included in revenue requirement based on the assumption that the assets are included in CNPI's rate base.  As opposed to treated as an operating cost and recovered by CNPI.


The entire foundation of that argument rests on whether or not we're dealing with a sale or a lease because to get to that point they're saying, that’s the benchmark that you should look at.  The benchmark is:  What if they had done it by way of sale instead of doing it by way of a lease?  If they had done it by way of a sale, then clearly we would be adding the assets into rate base.  We would be figuring out a return.  There would be adjustments for PILs et cetera, and we would figure out what the appropriate revenue requirement is.


But to get to that point, to get to that benchmark, you have to determine whether or not this in fact is a lease or it's a sale.



In my submission, the SEC has not done that.  We have seen that they have made submissions in their motion materials that perhaps this is a sale in disguise.  It's not really a lease, it’s a tax planning tool.


As we wrote - and I am not going to go over it in detail - but as we wrote in our motion materials, there's a test to determine whether or not something is a sale or a lease.  That's a test that has been developed by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.  It's a test that has been developed by common law.  And that same test, the exact same test is included in section 314 of the regulation that exempts LDCs from having to pay transfer tax.


The test, in the regulation, which I referred to as the criteria, if any of those circumstances are present in a transaction, then what we have is a sale and not a lease.  And if we have a sale, transfer tax is going to be payable.


We satisfied all of those tests.  The very purpose of the regulation that exempts LDCs from transfer tax is to ensure that they're not avoiding transfer tax by disguising sales as leases.  So if, then, the logical conclusion of passing the test in the regulation is that if you pass that test then you've got a true lease, you don't have a sale.


In our circumstance, we know that we have a true lease because we know that we satisfy the test in the regulation.  We have an advanced tax ruling, the circumstances of the transaction reviewed by the Ministry of Finance.  And a conclusion was reached that no transfer tax is payable.


So we know without a doubt that what we have here is a true lease.  And therefore, to say that the appropriate benchmark for the setting of just and reasonable rates is to look at it as if it had been a sale is actually creating a fiction.  There was no sale.  Why would we look at it as if it were a sale had we entered into a sale?  We didn't enter into a sale.  We entered into a lease.  Even that transaction was before the Board in the MAAD application in 2002 and it was approved by the Board.


So we disagree with the premise put forward by SEC that the appropriate benchmark is, what if they had entered into a sale?  That's a fiction.


If anything, what would be appropriate would be -- and actually I don't even think it would be appropriate but something even closer might be to say:   What if CNP had never approached Port Colborne Hydro Inc.?  What would the rates be today in Port Colborne had they been a stand-alone utility?


Of course we would never know because what could have happened between 2002 and today?  What kind of capital expenditures would they have made?  What kind of, you know, what kind of decisions would they have made in the operation of their utility?  We don't know and we can't crystal ball that, so we shouldn't be guessing at what that would be.


Therefore, because we don't know what that circumstance would have led to in terms of revenue requirement, we know that the benchmark of a sale instead of a lease since this truly was a lease is inappropriate.  What we're left with is what we really have, and that is a lease situation that's been approved by the Board.


Mr. Vlahos, you actually said something very interesting, which was:  Well, wouldn't the cost go down?  And that got me thinking, you know if we were to plot this on an axis with Y being cost and X being time, the lease payments would be a flat line running across because they remain constant over the term of the 10-year term of the lease.


The return on the capital of Port Colborne's capital would start off higher, and over time as they depreciate would get lower and lower and lower and lower.  So arguably, depending on what the value of the capital is, intervenors could at the very beginning of the lease say:   We should treat this as an operating expense.  Let's include the lease payments in revenue requirement as opposed to the higher return on capital and then as time goes by, as that line comes down and crosses the horizontal line representing the lease payments, well I could see intervenors say, Oh, now we should treat it as a capital expense because the return will be lower than the lease payment.


We can't switch reality over time based on cost.  It is what it is, and that is a lease.


We have heard the argument advanced that we have^-- you know, if the Board were to approve this type of transaction, we're going to see a slippery slope type situation where other LDCs are going to go out there and enter into long-term lease situations in order to circumvent the return on equity approved by the Board.

Well, I don't buy that for one second, because this was approved.  The lease payments were approved to be included in CNPI's revenue requirement as an operating expense back in 2006.  We haven't seen one lease -- long-term lease transaction since then.

So by approving it today in 2009, we're not doing anything different than we've done in 2006.  So I don't buy -- I don't see any evidence that what we're doing is creating a slippery slope argument and other LDCs are going to so excited by the decision in this proceeding they're going to run out and start entering into long-term leases.

The advanced ruling, we didn't submit that for the purpose of suggesting that it sets just and reasonable rates.  We know that the Ministry of Finance isn't thinking about just and reasonable rates.  The only thing the Ministry of Finance was thinking about was whether or not we satisfied the criteria in the regulation to avoid paying transfer tax.

We submitted that advanced tax ruling to demonstrate that what we have is a true lease.

Now, of course it is your job to set just and reasonable rates, but in order to say that what would be just and reasonable would be a return amount included in revenue requirement, to get to that conclusion I submit that you would have to find that, in fact, what we have here is, in substance, a sale and not a lease.

And as I've said and as we have suggested and described in our materials, that is certainly not the case.  This is a true lease.

Now, that argument stands on its own separate from the issue estoppel argument.  We've put the issue estoppel argument in our materials to suggest to you that even if you were to grant the SEC's motion and compel us to provide the information they're looking for so that they can try to make an argument as to whether or not what we have is a lease or a sale, something that's already been established, well, we have provided the issue estoppel argument to show you that if you go down that path, that ultimately even if they try to argue that in fact the lease payments should not be included in revenue requirement as an operating expense, that the Board would be estopped from changing the way it has treated the lease payments from the 2006 decision.

That's why we've put it in.  I think that the SEC and Canadian Niagara Power, I think that we are pretty well in agreement on what the law is.  I don't think there's much debate on the law.  There is a three-part test.  I think we both agree what the three-part test is.

We agree that the Board has discretion as to whether or not it exercises the three-part test.

As we set out in our motion materials, the three-part test has been met in CNPI's case.  The first part of the test is the same issue was decided.  In the 2006 EDR proceeding, Canadian Niagara Power in manager's summary of its application indicated that they were including the lease payments as operating costs for the purpose of determining revenue requirement.  We've reproduced that at tab 6, the manager's summary.

So, therefore, the issue of whether or not the lease payment should be included in revenue requirement as an operating expense was certainly before the Board and certainly determined by the Board.

We know from the Board's decision - and this is at paragraph 39 of tab 3 of our materials - we've reproduced a quote from the decision that says:
"While the Board has considered the entire record in this proceeding, it has made reference in this decision only to such evidence and argument as is necessary to provide context to its finding."

So clearly the Board considered everything on the record.  It would have had to; otherwise, the rates it would have set would not have been just and reasonable.  So this was an issue before the Board, and the Board considered this issue and the Board approved the issue, because the rates that were approved for Canadian Niagara Power allowed for the recovery of their lease payments.

We also know the decision was final.  It wasn't appealed.  I don't think anyone would dispute that, and we know that the parties were the same.  The School Energy Coalition was an intervenor in the 2006 proceeding.  They had the opportunity to pose interrogatories, to make submissions on this issue, but back in 2006 it didn't.

Now, for those reasons, we think it is apparent that we satisfied the three-part test for issue estoppel.

Like I said, we agree that you have discretion as to whether or not to exercise that principle, and the case law that has been relied on by both Schools and CNPI for that principle is the Danyluk case.  In that case, they talk about an injustice.  You don't apply the test if an injustice is going to occur.

Now, we have heard a lot today, both from VECC and from SEC, about, you know, issue estoppel being applied in rate cases and it's inappropriate, because costs repeat themselves from one rate case to another.

I agree with that.  I don't dispute that.  I have acted for LDCs before on a number of applications.  I have never raised an issue estoppel argument.  While I have said in applications this same cost was approved by the Board, I have never gone as far as saying, But the Board shouldn't review this cost because of the issue estoppel principle.

And the reason is that this cost is extremely different, completely different, from your ordinary cost that you would see in an application.

If we were to take, for example, an operating cost of tree trimming, that a utility puts in its 2006 application $100,000.  2009 comes along; they put another $100,000 and say, Sorry, Board, you can't revisit that cost.  You have already made a decision back in 2006.  That argument would be ridiculous, because we know that the circumstances for the utility change.

Perhaps they have had a study done that demonstrates that their tree-trimming cycle, instead of being five years, should be reduced to three years or go up to seven years.  Perhaps they issued an RFP and they got a lower cost on their tree trimming services.

But in this case, the costs we're talking about are costs that come out of a contract, a ten-year contract, and those costs are fixed over the ten-year contract, subject to minor adjustments that really have no impact.

So that cost is very different, and what is also different about that cost is that contract was the subject of a Board proceeding, an entire proceeding dedicated to that contract, and the Board approved that contract.  And, therefore, the slippery slope argument of looking at costs from one proceeding to another and worrying about whether or not we have issue estoppel problems is not real.

This is a unique circumstance because of the nature of the cost, and, therefore, issue estoppel should apply.


In terms of your discretion and whether or not there would be an injustice, I find it surprising to hear that there would be an injustice because the 2006 decision didn't thoroughly or properly review the inclusion of lease payments in revenue requirement as an operating expense.

As I said, the opportunity was there.  It was before the Board.  The Board considered the record.  The Board set rates that included it.  To me, that is a suggestion that the Board didn't set just and reasonable rates, which I don't believe.

We submit that in fact the complete opposite would be true.  If at this time -- in terms of an injustice.  An injustice would occur if you were to allow the SEC to essentially reopen the MAAD application in the 2006 EDR application.

We received approval in 2002 for the lease and the lease agreement and the transaction, and then in 2006 we came back and we dealt with the costs.  Now to say that those very same costs -- they haven't changed, same agreement, same everything.  To now say, Hey, maybe we're going to pull those back, that would be inherently unfair to Canadian Niagara Power, who has relied on -- in its business operation, it has relied on that decision from the Board in 2006.

That's why for both of those arguments, on the stand-alone basis, because this is not a lease -- or this is not a sale in any way whatsoever, it is a lease -- we should not be looking at the benchmark of a sale.  It doesn't make any sense.  And even if you did, the argument shouldn't be made because of the principle of issue estoppel.  And for those reasons, the SEC's request that we be compelled to provide financial information, to provide history, this and that, all about the lease transaction, should not be granted because it will get them no further than they are without it.


To address some specific things that were raised by SEC.  There was a discussion that goes to the inherent injustice regarding storm damage that, you know, we received $250,000 through the storm damage proceeding.  That would be unfair because the lease payments stay the same, but we're, in fact we're getting recovery for assets that had been damaged in the storm.


When I look at the materials -- and I just received these today so I haven't had a chance to really review them thoroughly -- but if I look at the materials -- do you have the page?


On page 29, thank you.  Where there is a table, there's Exhibit 1.1, that sets out the costs that ultimately gets you to the $253,000 for Port Colborne, at the bottom of column 2, these costs pertain to operating costs.


It's my understanding that that's don't pertain to capital replacement.  And if you look at the second row, less capitalized portion, there is a zero there.


So I don't understand.  Maybe I am missing something, but I just don’t understand the argument that is being put forward by SEC.


In regard to VECC's submission, Mr. Buonaguro submitted that the rationale for the lease would be helpful for the Board, for the transaction.


You know, why were they doing what they were doing back in 2002?  Quite simply, I would say the rationale for the transaction is irrelevant.  The only thing that is important is:  What is the transaction?  Is it a lease or a sale?


As I've said, we know it is a lease.


So in regard to the comprehensive lease issue, those are our submissions, subject to any questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.  Mr. Taylor, a couple of times you referred to the Board approval in the MAADs application back in 2001.


This was a MAADs application, it was a section 81, and that's not the forum to set rates.  You recognize that.


MR. TAYLOR:  I do recognize that.

MR. VLAHOS:  I believe what you referred to is whether the absence of any language of concern by the Board, in terms of the ratemaking implications, is that what you referred to?


MR. TAYLOR:  No, no.  The issue estoppel really only ties to the 2006 decision, because that's where the rates were considered.


I concede that rates were not considered as part of the MAAD application.  That is not what the Board does in MAAD applications.

The only reason why I brought up the MAAD application is to show that the lease itself was reviewed by the Board and then that deals with the first part of my argument, not the issue estoppel part of my argument.


MR. VLAHOS:  I see, okay.  So the lease itself was reviewed, but given the fact this was not a rates proceeding, then what was your expectation?  The Board was concerned that it would either not approve or approve with certain conditions, or comment on concerns?


MR. TAYLOR:  Well, it wasn't before the Board, so I don't expect that there was any inclusion of the lease payments in rates back then.


I think that only started in 2006.  So --

MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry.  Those were known.

MR. TAYLOR:  The lease payments?


MR. VLAHOS:  The lease payments would have been known?


MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Again, I am not sure as to what import you put on the MAADs decision, other than it was simply approved by the Board because they had to under section 81.


MR. TAYLOR:  The point is, is that - and I brought this in in regard to my argument about the injustice - that this is a type of cost that is different from other costs.  This is a cost that comes from a contract that was reviewed by the Board and that's why it is different.


But I agree with you there is no magic to the MAADs decision in regard to the issue estoppel argument.

MR. VLAHOS:  I guess in theory all contracts are reviewed by the Board and the cost consequences flow from those?


MR. TAYLOR:  In theory.  But practically, I don't think there is any higher level of scrutiny of a contract than in a MAADs application.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.  Mr. DeVellis?


MR. De VELLIS:  I wonder if we may have ten minutes to ^--

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, certainly.  Let's take our break here.  Let's make it 15 minutes.


MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.
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--- Upon resuming at 3:10 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

Mr. DeVellis.
Further Submissions by Mr. DeVellis:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  We'll have to do the tap test from now on.

Just a few items in reply.  The first point, I would like to reply to Ms. Cochrane on behalf of Board Staff, and that is Board Staff's position that the issue of the lease was already examined in the MAAD application 2002.

I have two points to make in response to that.  The first is the MAAD application was not a rate application, as I've said.  The Board simply incorporated the existing rates into the new franchise holder, and we don't know from that application to what extent -- other than the fact that the Board knew what the lease payments would be, we don't know whether they looked into the net present value of the lease, or any comparison of whether the lease payments are just and reasonable, because, as I said, they were not looking at rate implications.

The second point is that if Board Staff's position is correct, then that would mean that in every MAAD application intervenors would have to -- intervenors would have to intervene on every MAAD application, and it would have to insist on the rate implications of the application being considered.  Generally, the rate implications are considered in a rate proceeding.

Now, to reply to some of my friend Mr. Taylor's submissions, the first was that this whole -- Mr. Taylor said something about this whole issue being contingent on whether you agree that the sale -- that the transaction was a lease versus a sale.  And he pointed to the fact that the tax people had found that it was generally a lease transaction.

Again, I reiterate that whether or not it is a sale or a lease for tax purposes is not relevant.  What is relevant is whether the result is just and reasonable.

If you find that the rate of return on the lease payments on the underlying assets is unreasonable in comparison of what they would be had they been in rate base, then, in our submission, you are perfectly entitled to examine that and to ultimately find that the lease payments are not recoverable in rates.

But even if you find that the determination by the tax authorities, the Ministry of Finance, is somehow determinative of this issue, as I said earlier, the tax issue is a subset of issue estoppel issue.  So if you are going to look at the tax ruling as determinative of anything, you would have to apply the issue estoppel test to that ruling, as well.

And on that test, it doesn't meet any of the tests.  The only two parties involved in the tax ruling were CNP or -- yes, CNP - or was it Port Colborne Hydro - and the Ministry of Finance.  There were no intervenors.  There was no other parties involved.  We don't know what documents were provided to the Ministry of Finance, and the Ministry of Finance's ruling itself says that it is qualified -- it's qualified on the basis of, We assume everything that you've given us is accurate.

Well, all we -- some of the documents that we've asked for is, Give us what you gave to the Ministry of Finance.  Let us see.  Let us make an independent evaluation of whether in fact the Ministry of Finance's ruling was based on accurate information, and also whether, for our purposes, for rate-making purposes, there is a difference between what the Ministry of Finance found and what -- and what is just and reasonable for rates.

Now, on the issue of issue estoppel, again, we don't believe that the test has been met.  Yes, there was a passing reference to the lease payments in the last rate proceeding, but there was no detailed examination of it, and we know that these issues are often revisited in subsequent cases.

The implication of what CNP's position is is that in every rate proceeding, intervenors would have to examine every single item and make sure every stone is unturned in every single rate proceeding, because that is our one and only chance to look at it.  That is not how this Board has practiced in the past, and I don't think that is in keeping, frankly, with your statutory mandate; and that is to review cost and revenues for the test year in each rate application.

And Mr. Taylor said something about it being unjust to review this lease at this time, given the payments were, I guess, incorporated into the previous rate structure.

Well, my question is:  Where is the harm to CNP if the rates are revisited at this time?  All that means is that they've gotten in their rates for the last three years an amount that is now found to be not just and reasonable.  So they have gotten the benefit of it for the last three years, indeed for the last -- well, for the last three years.


So we are now saying you can't get it going forward.  There is no harm to them.  That means they have gotten a three-year pass, basically.  The harm would be for ratepayers to have to keep paying this amount when it's possible that, after examining these documents, you may find that the amounts are not just and reasonable.

Mr. Taylor also said something about the fact that, Well, we know what the lease payments are now, but at the beginning of the lease it may have been that the lease payments, in relation to what the payments would be if they had been included in rate base, would be lower.

Well, that's an argument that could be made at the end of the proceeding, but the fact is we don't have all of the information to make that determination at this point.

But what we do know is that even on the net book value that existed as of February of 2000, which was $8.9 million, which is in the financial statements submitted at the time of the MAAD application, the lease payments were 1.5 million on a net book value $8.9 million.  So that is 18 percent of the net book value, assuming the net book value is as of February 2000.

So even at the outset of the lease, in our view, the payments were too high to be recovered in rates.  And based on what we assume the net book value of the assets would be today -- and, remember, I don't know if I made this point before, but the net book value of the leased assets can only go down, because the terms of the lease are that any additions made by CNP are added to rate base, so -- that is, to CNP's rate base.


So the net book value of the leased assets will only depreciate.  There is no -- by definition under the terms of the lease, there are no additions to the net book value of the leased assets.  They can only go down by depreciation.  So whatever they start out as at the outset of the lease, they will now be substantially less.

So if we assume they started at 8.9 million, by today, using even a straight-line depreciation, we estimate around 5 million, but, again, we're guessing, because we don't have the documents.

But just in terms of sort establishing a prima facie case for why we think these documents are relevant, we are looking at, today, lease payments of 1.5 million on an assumed net book value of approximately $5 million.  That is 32 percent return on those assets.

By the end of the IRM period, because these rates would be in place for 2009 and possibly another three years thereafter, the net book value would continue to be depreciated, so we could be looking at -- and of course the lease payments would continue to be the same.  So we could be looking at a return of 40 percent or more.

Again, you know, we will we have to guesstimate, because we don't have the documents, but that is certainly something, in our view, the Board would want to examine to determine whether these lease payments are just and reasonable for ratepayers.

Lastly, with respect to the slippery slope argument Mr. Taylor alluded to, and again, I ask rhetorically:  Why would anyone buying an electricity distributor, or leasing, as the case may be, pay a premium over net book value when, under a sale transaction, all that would be included in rate base would be the net book value; whereas if you structure it as a lease, even -- again, even if it is accepted that it is a genuine lease transaction, that the lease payments would be included in rates, and that could mean a return of much higher than the return would be on the net book value.

So for all of those reasons, we think that there is certainly an arguable case.  There is certainly enough there for the Board to want to examine these documents to determine whether these lease payments are just and reasonable to ratepayers.


Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


No questions from the Board, Mr. DeVellis.


Mr. Taylor, I do have a question, though.

With the expiry of the current lease, I am not sure if you are familiar with all of the options available, what may be possible, but am I wrong in assuming that whatever the option chosen, it would require Board approval?

Further Submissions from Mr. Taylor:


MR. TAYLOR:  I think you are correct.  I think you are correct, Mr. Chair.


In fact, in the MAAD decision, I believe that the Board says that its decision is not indicative of the final option or whatever happens at the end of the lease, and that it would expect that the parties would have to come back.


I think I can show you the section or read you the quote.  Here.  This is at tab 4 of our materials and I am at page 4 of the decision.  Under the Order, number 1, the last sentence says:
"For greater certainty, this order does not include approval of the final disposition of the electricity distribution assets under section 16 of the lease agreement."


It's my understanding that section 16 of the lease agreement deals with the final disposition.  So we would be back.  I think one way or another, we would be back.


MR. VLAHOS:  Do you have a date, sir, for the expiry date, the specific date?


MR. TAYLOR:  It is April 2012.


MR. VLAHOS:  Which would mean that something would be before the Board before that date, or after that date?


MR. TAYLOR:  Well, I think that if we would want rates to be implemented from May of 2012, we would have to apply before then.  Probably in 2011.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is it your understanding that whatever the end of the transaction would be would drive a request for rates, or some other approval of the Board?


MR. TAYLOR:  I think that -- I don't see how it couldn't drive a request for rates.  I think it would probably be a MAAD application and a rate application, because if they were to purchase the assets, then at that time that would be a sale, and they would want to include the book value of the assets, CNPI would want to include the book value of the assets in the rate base.  And vice versa, if they didn't exercise the option then Port Colborne Hydro to were to take the assets they would probably do the same.


MR. VLAHOS:  They would still need a section --

MR. TAYLOR:  I think there would still have to be a MAAD application and I still think there would still have to be a rate request.


MR. VLAHOS:  If it's just a straight renewal, then that would also need, as you pointed out, you would need Board approval?


MR. TAYLOR:  I am just going to check on that.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry, I shouldn't say “as you pointed out”.  I am just not sure what this section 16 of the lease agreement says.


MR. TAYLOR:  I have been advised there is no option to renew the lease.


MR. VLAHOS:  There is no option?


MR. TAYLOR:  No.


MR. VLAHOS:  So what are the options then?  The option is you buy the assets outright?


MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.  At the fair market value.

MR. VLAHOS:  At the fair market value?  Or ...

MR. TAYLOR:  Or we sell the assets, the additions that CNPI has added at fair market value.

MR. VLAHOS:  To the municipality.

MR. TAYLOR:  To Port Colborne Hydro Inc., yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right, okay.


MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So there is no provision for the continuation of a lease arrangement?


MR. TAYLOR:  No, there is not.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you for that.  All right.  So that concludes the submissions on the first set of issues, the lease agreement issues.


So now we are ready to move into the second set.  Mr. DeVellis, we can start with you, again.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you hear me?

Further submissions by Mr. DeVellis:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  This next category of questions is one that has been visited frequently before this Board.  I think it is well established now that applicants with intercorporate relationships such as Canadian Niagara Power has, have to expect that the Board will require them to disclose material to this Board for the purpose of determining whether the cost in revenues included for recovery from ratepayers is just and reasonable.


We have included in our materials an excerpt from this Board's decision in the EB-2005-0001 decision which is the Enbridge 2006 rate proceeding, and in that decision, the Board expresses frustration that documents that had it had previously ordered be produced had to be fought over again in that proceeding.


It had concluded at the second last page of tab 11, of our materials, that:
"In the future Enbridge Gas Distribution would be required to file financial statements of its affiliates as well as other documentation."


This sort of information is common in rate applications, in the Toronto Hydro rate application last year, for example, Toronto Hydro filed its business plan for Toronto Hydro Corporation, that is its parent company, which included information regarding Toronto Hydro -- the Applicant, Toronto Hydro-Electric System, the parent company Toronto Hydro, you know, and various of its affiliates.


Ontario Power Generation last year, in its payment amounts proceeding, also filed its corporate business plan which included information about affiliates.


We are simply asking for the portion of Fortis Ontario plan, for Fortis Ontario, that is Canadian Niagara Power’s parent company, the business plan and other documents that refer to Canadian Niagara Power.


In addition, there is a twist in this particular application, in that the Board has already declared that Port Colborne Hydro Inc. is a co-applicant in this proceeding.  That was in Procedural Order number 1.  To our knowledge, neither Canadian Niagara Power or P.C. Hydro has contested that decision.


So in our view, all of the documents that would normally be produced or producible by the applicant should be produced by Port Colborne Hydro as well.  And any of the contested issues in, under this category would be in that category of questions.


With respect to some of the cost allocation -- some of the issues -- some of the questions that we've asked that go to cost allocation issues between -- of shared services and other items between Canadian Niagara Power and its affiliates, but what Canadian Niagara Power's response has been in their materials before you is that they have produced the cost allocation study.  And that may be.


However, in our view, we are entitled to look behind the study and to determine whether or not the study was done correctly.  So many of the questions go to that issue.


For example, we were asked for financial information with respect to CNP Transmission.  And we're not suggesting that if the transmission business over-earns it necessarily implies an allocation problem, but it can at least be an indication that there might be a problem.  So if we had that information and we saw that CNP Transmission was significantly over-earning, that could imply or be a signal to the Board there is an allocation problem.


So in our view, this category of documents are documents that are commonly produced in rate proceedings and they are relevant to the determination of whether the costs and revenues submitted by Canadian Niagara Power are just and reasonable and whether they have been properly, whether it has properly allocated its costs or revenues from its affiliates.


Canadian Niagara Power has a complicated corporate structure and many of those affiliates deal with the regulated entity, and, in those circumstances, we think it is reasonable for this Board to inquire as to the financial status of those affiliates who deal with the applicant.

So subject to any questions, those are my submissions on that issue.

MR. VLAHOS:  I am just trying to make a list, Mr. DeVellis.

What you are asking is some financial information from the transmission business unit.  You have received some information.  What you are looking for is the ROE calculation?

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's correct, for that particular interrogatory.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Then just looking at sort of general categories, then you are looking for financial statements for Port Colborne?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  I am just trying to find that one.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And the reason for that is what, sir?  I'm sorry, I missed it to jot it down.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry?

MR. VLAHOS:  How would that help you?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, I'm sorry.  That relates to the first issue that we were dealing with, the first category of questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Oh, so that's part of the first grouping?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, right.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So I've got the ROE for transmission, and what else?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, the first one is SEC No. 5.  That was the multi-year business plan, including parts of the Fortis Ontario multi-year strategic plan that referred to Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Again, that is information that is common in rate proceedings, and it could impact the Board's determination or the Board's view of the planning assumptions or -- that underpin the cost of revenues that are before you.

MR. VLAHOS:  This is the multi-year -- this is the Fortis Ontario?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  That is Interrogatory No. 5, and also supplementary Interrogatory No. 1 from the School Energy Coalition.

MR. VLAHOS:  So I understand you have received some material about Fortis Ontario or --

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, what we have received are -- if you turn to tab 2 of - sorry - my friend's motion record -- sorry, our motion record, tab 4.  Certain schedules have been produced, but those are completely out of context and we don't have the narrative of the business plan.  We want the whole business plan that refers to Canadian Niagara Power.

The other issue that falls under this category is SEC No. 16, where we've asked for income statement and regulatory format for Cornwall Electric for the historic year, bridge year and test year.  Again, Cornwall Electric provides services to the applicant and the applicant provides services to Cornwall Electric, and under those circumstances we think that we should be able to see the income statements, you know, again, mainly to provide a signal whether there is a problem of allocation, whether the amounts are properly being charged to the applicant or vice versa.

MR. VLAHOS:  Just clarify for me.  Is the affiliate transaction between Cornwall and Port Colborne, or Cornwall and some other system?

MR. DeVELLIS:  It's Fort Erie and Gananoque.  So it's Canadian Niagara Power, Fort Erie --

MR. VLAHOS:  For all three?

MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe it is just for those two, not Port Colborne.

MR. VLAHOS:  Just the two?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Just the two, yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And you want income statements for Cornwall?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Cornwall Electric, and, again, you know, Canadian Niagara Power's reply has been -- it is in our materials.  Cornwall Electric is a regulated entity by this Board, so they do file audited income statements.  We are just asking that they be filed in this proceeding.

So we don't believe it would be cumbersome for them to file them.  They have already been done.  I presume they will have to be done in any event to be filed.  So we just want them to be produced in this proceeding.

MR. VLAHOS:  Those would be, what?  Those would be the last available audited statements; is that what you are looking for?

MR. DeVELLIS:  I should have qualified what I just said.  We were also asking for, I guess, pro forma statements for the test year, for 2009.  But, again, I mean, we don't believe that that would be cumbersome to produce, since they will have to be produced in any event by Cornwall Electric.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And the potential use of that, Mr. DeVellis, for your client is?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, again, it is the same rationale for the transmission income statements.  That is, yes, there has been a cost allocation or shared services study produced, but we would like to be able to look behind the numbers to determine, frankly, whether there is a red flag, whether there is a need to investigate further.

One indication of that could be that there are, you know, over-earnings on the part of their affiliates, which is what raised the red flag in the Enbridge Gas case, which is the one I referred you to, and that is the fact that the affiliate, which was providing services to the regulated company, Enbridge Gas, was earning very high rates of return, and that raised a red flag and resulted in further investigation, as a result of which there was a significant disallowance of Enbridge Gas's customer care costs.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.  That helps.

Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Other than to support the submissions of Mr. DeVellis, I have nothing to add.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Sorry, I couldn't hear you so I had to read it.

Mr. MacIntosh.

MR. MACINTOSH:  Mr. Chair, just in support, and no further submissions to make.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you.  Ms. Cochrane.

MS. COCHRANE:  Board Staff does not take a position on this issue.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Ms. Cochrane.  Mr. Taylor.
Further Submissions by Mr. Taylor:


MR. TAYLOR:  Okay, Mr. Chair.

I am going to start with the five-year business plan.  We tried to be helpful in this regard, and we believe we have actually provided to the SEC exactly what they've asked for.

We've given them the distribution information from the Fortis Ontario five-year business plan.  We didn't give them the entire Fortis Ontario business plan, because there's a lot of information in there that is irrelevant for the purpose of this proceeding.

It just happens, as a result of circumstances, that the distribution portion of the business plan is consolidated with Fortis Ontario's five year business plan.

It's unfortunate that that was the case, and I think that going forward, based on this, there is serious consideration to break out the business plan so we don't have to deal with this type of circumstance.  But just because it's combined doesn't mean that the intervenors should have access to the entire plan, when that plan clearly deals with non-distribution issues.

It is kind of like -- the analogy that I can think of is Brookfield owns Great Lakes Power and the intervenor saying, Give us Brookfield's business plan.  Why would they need that?  They wouldn't need it any more than they would need the information in the Fortis Ontario business plan that doesn't pertain to distribution.

So what we have done is we've taken out the information from the business plan and we've provided that through our interrogatory responses, and I have heard that, you know, there is no context to the information, all of these tables that were provided that are at tab 4 of the SEC's materials.


But the context, the narrative surrounding these materials, is in the prefiled evidence.

Of course we're going to a hearing, so any questions that the SEC has regarding the materials, you know, they can be asked through cross-examination.

So we believe that we've given them exactly what they've asked for, and to give them any more is way beyond the scope of this proceeding in regard to the five-year business plan.

The next issue was the return on equity for the transmission business unit.  You know, we have provided the revenues which were also asked for and the reason why we did was because the revenues of the transmission business unit has an impact on the allocation of tax between transmission and distribution.  So to us that was -- it was a relevant question and we provided the information.  But then to go further and to request that they need the ROE and the reason that I've heard is because, if the transmission business unit is over-earning, that can be an indication that there is a problem.


Well, we've provided a third-party study on our cost allocation.  We filed that with the prefiled evidence.  That's there.  We have also provided further information through our interrogatory responses on the allocation methodology.  That's before them as well.


So to start looking at the ROE of the transmission business unit because maybe that will be indicative of something, is going further than is necessary.  There's enough evidence on the record for both the Board and the SEC to fully canvas the issue of cost allocation for Canadian Niagara Power.


Now, in both the transmission argument and the request for information regarding Cornwall Electric, the SEC has relied on the Enbridge case.


I don't agree that the Enbridge case stands for the proposition that whenever you are receiving a service from an affiliate, that means it is fair game to start picking apart the financials of the affiliate.  I don't agree with that.


I reviewed the Enbridge case and, in that case, there were compelling reasons to get into or go behind the information provided and look at the financial details of the affiliate who was providing customer care services to Enbridge.


What was interesting in that case was -- in their previous application they tried to include these customer care costs.  The Board rejected them.  They come back a few years later and they, again, try to include them but this time they're being provided by an affiliate.  Actually they're being provided by a limited partnership where Enbridge was a 70 percent owner of that limited partnership back to the utility.  So clearly something fishy was going on.


They didn't have evidence that could demonstrate what the market value of those services would be.  So what they did was, they said, Well, let's look at what would the cost be and plus a fair return.  Let's see what the return is for the affiliate who’s providing the service.

Now in that case, it is my understanding that that limited partnership was set up for the sole purpose of providing these customer care services.  That's all they did.  So when they looked at this limited partnership who was earning huge returns that could only pertain to this one function, clearly they were overcharging, and they were over-earning and therefore overcharging and that is why the Board cut the expense.  That is not the case here with Canadian Niagara Power.

There is nothing fishy going on.  There is nothing compelling that would require you to search further than the BDR report, than the evidence that we filed, to look behind and to look at all of the financials of both Cornwall Electric and the transmission business unit.


Even if you were to look at those financials, if we think about it, because transmission -- it does a lot.  It is more than just a one-dimensional business providing one service to one customer as in the case of Enbridge and same with Cornwall Electric.  All you would be able to do is, say, okay, they're over-earning, but we don't know why they're over earning.  It could be for a number of years it might not pertain to the particular service or shared cost with CNPI's distribution business unit.  So I personally don't even think that the results you would get from the enquiry would be helpful to you.


In regard to Cornwall Electric, the services that Cornwall Electric provides are only to Canadian Niagara Power, Eastern Ontario Power.  Not Fort Erie.  It is just the one.  So I wanted to make that correction.


We have been asked to file financial information in regulatory format.  As we've set out at tab 2 of our materials, Cornwall Electric's utility rates are determining -- determined using a price cap formula.  They're not your standard LDC.  As such, they don't prepare income statements in the regulatory format as requested by the intervenor.  We don't have regulatory formatted income statements as requested.


Their financial statements, they are regulated by the OEB.  True, their financial statements are filed with the Board.  However, as I said, they're not in the regulatory format, and although I guess they're accessible to the intervenor and the intervenor probably could have gone to the public file room and got them itself, we still don't believe that, in the context of this proceeding, it's appropriate to provide those financial statements.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Taylor, just help me.  They're regulated under price cap.  Educate me.  What does that mean?  They're never going to rebase, they have never been rebased so they don't plan to be rebased?


MR. BRADBURY:  In Cornwall, the rates are based on the franchise agreement ...

In Cornwall, the rates are set through a franchise agreement between the City of Cornwall and Cornwall Electric and it is based on a customer count bases and it's indexed on a yearly basis.


Cornwall is not connected to the IESO control grid and is not -- did not go through the unbundling exercise in 2002.


Cornwall buys its power through Quebec Hydro through a long-term agreement.  So it doesn't come in for a cost-of-service application to the Ontario Energy Board.  The Ontario Energy Board issues a distribution licence to Cornwall, where Cornwall has certain exemptions in that distribution licence, and one of them being the franchise agreement between the City of Cornwall and Cornwall Electric, and that's the -- it is not a cost-of-service formula.  It is a price cap formula which determines rates.


MR. VLAHOS:  So I take it from that then you do file certain information under the Board's reporting requirements?


MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, we file the audited financial statements.

MR. VLAHOS:  The audited financial statements.  But you are not asked to file anything by way of, in a regulatory mode, in a regulatory structure?


MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.  Other than we file, I think reliability statistics?


MR. VLAHOS:  And nothing by way of pro forma statements?


MR. BRADBURY:  No.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you for that clarification.


Mr. DeVellis.

Further submissions by Mr. DeVellis:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Just briefly.  I don't have much reply on this issue.  With respect to the business plan.  I take Mr. Taylor's point there may be a lot in there that is irrelevant to this proceeding but that is the case in many documents that are filed before this Board, but the fact that there is some stuff that may be irrelevant doesn't mean that there wouldn't be a whole lot that is relevant.  So we don't think that is a reason for not filing it.


In other proceedings this sort of information has been filed in confidence, you know.  We would certainly be open to that, if there contained affiliate information about entities that are not regulated by this Board, of course that would be the Board's decision, not ours.

With respect to the context being in the prefiled evidence, well, the point of looking at the business plan is to see what the company is seeing internally and so the fact, you know, and comparing it to what is in the prefiled evidence.  The fact there is something said about -- that are related to the business plan in the prefiled evidence is not determinative.  We would like to see what the business plan says to be able to compare it to the prefiled evidence and ask questions about it.


With respect to the financial statements for Cornwall and for CNP Transmission, yes, there were compelling reasons in the Enbridge Gas case.  But I would submit that the reason those compelling issues arose is there were extraordinary returns on behalf of the affiliate and that raised further questions and you know something was ultimately done about it.

We are just asking to see the financial statements for both entities.  They're both regulated by this Board and they both have to produce income statements for this Board so we don't certainly think -- we're not asking you to create something just for us.  It is something that will have to be filed before this Board.  We just want to be able to look at it and we don't think it is a cumbersome request.  So subject to any questions, those are my submissions on that issue.

MR. VLAHOS:  No questions, Mr. DeVellis.

Mr. Taylor, just a couple of questions that I had in my notes here and I needed to ask you.

The third party cost allocation study you referred to, this is filed in evidence?

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, it is.

MR. VLAHOS:  There have been questions on it?

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, there have.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Is this the first time that they have been produced?

MR. TAYLOR:  Sorry, is this the first time -- you're talking the cost allocation study?

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.

MR. TAYLOR:  We filed that with our pre-filed evidence initially in August.

MR. VLAHOS:  Is --

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  In this proceeding, we filed it with the pre-filed evidence.  It is an update from a cost allocation study that was also performed in 2006 that was filed with that application.

MR. VLAHOS:  Was it the same service provider?

MR. TAYLOR:  It was BDR, as well.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, thank you.

Secondly, I notice here that with respect to Cornwall Electric, you say CNPI has reviewed a proposal from a third party service provider performing similar services and has determined that the fully loaded costs incurred by CNPI is less than the third party service provider's price.

Is there anything filed to that regard?

MR. TAYLOR:  No, we have not filed that information.

We only looked into that in response to this motion.

MR. VLAHOS:  Oh, I see.  It was subsequent to the motion being filed that you looked at it?

MR. TAYLOR:  We received the motion, and then we looked into what those costs would be, whether or not they were reasonable costs relative to the market.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So what do you have -- what does the company have in its possession by way of a proposal?  Is that something that is producible?

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  It is?  I guess Board Staff are asking for an undertaking.  No, I guess the Board is asking if you can produce that on the record.

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, we can, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.

MS. COCHRANE:  That will be undertaking JT.1.  If you can just state it on the record what it was, because I missed it?

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  The company to produce a proposal which it has received from a third party service provider performing similar services as -- I guess, as Cornwall Electric.

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.

MR. TAYLOR:  We would be happy to provide that, Mr. Chair.
Undertaking No. JT.1:  To produce a proposal received from third party service provider performing similar services as Cornwall Electric.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  So that completes the second grouping of issues, then.

Break, anyone?

MR. DeVELLIS:  I am ready to proceed.

MR. VLAHOS:  Our reporter is ready to proceed.  Okay, let's go ahead.  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.

MR. DeVELLIS:  As I said, I don't think this issue will take as much time, so we can hopefully proceed through it rather -- fairly quickly.  That has to do with disclosure executive employee compensation -- or, rather, the category of executive category compensation.

With respect to this issue, we believe that the Board's objective in allowing utilities who have fewer than three FTEs in a particular compensation category, to amalgamate that category into a different category is to prevent a single employee's salary from being disclosed.

Where there are more than three actual employees in a category, however, we believe that this objective is met.

With respect to that issue, how many categories are in the -- how many actual employees are in the executive category, that has been answered, and it is four.  That was at the technical conference at page 33 of the technical conference transcript, which is at tab 8 of our materials.

What Canadian Niagara Power has said is that those four employees are Fortis Ontario executives who allocate a portion of their time to Canadian Niagara Power.

We think that the starting point for that allocation is what -- the total executive salary that is allocated to Canadian Niagara Power is absolutely relevant for this proceeding.  We don't know what Fortis executives are paid, but if it is an unreasonable amount and a portion is being allocated to the regulated entity, that is something the Board should know about.

Right now, all we have is a combined category of management salary.  We don't know what the executive salary is.  Again, we're not looking for individual salaries.  We're looking for the total executive category, and, again, this is a fraction of the total of these individuals' total salaries, so I don't think that if you have the total allocated to Fortis Ontario -- sorry, to Canadian Niagara Power, that anyone would be able to extrapolate from that what the total salary of any one individual would be.

We are talking about a fraction of the four people's salaries being allocated to Canadian Niagara Power.  So we don't think that the Board's objectives would be compromised in terms of being able to disclose individual salaries, but we do think that whatever the total amount is should be disclosed in this proceeding.

Subject to any questions, those are my submissions on that issue.

MR. VLAHOS:  My only question, Mr. DeVellis, is I wanted to get some sense of materiality to the rate-setting exercise we are going through.

Can you give me an idea as to what we're talking about here?  Is there a decimal place?

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's a good question, but unfortunately we don't know because it has been amalgamated into the management category, so we don't know what the executive compensation is.  All we know is the total management salary compensation.

So it would be a portion of that, obviously, but we don't know.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Nothing.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. MacIntosh?

MR. MACINTOSH:  No, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Cochrane?

MS. COCHRANE:  We have no submissions for Board Staff on this.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Taylor.
Further Submissions by Mr. Taylor:


MR. TAYLOR:  We look at this issue as very straightforward.  We simply apply the rule that is set out in the 2006 EDR handbook, and that rule is very clear.  It says:
"Where there are three or fewer full-time equivalent, FTEs, in any category, the applicant may aggregate this category with the category to which it is most closely related.  This higher level of aggregation may be continued, if required, to ensure that no category contains three or fewer FTEs."

This is about FTEs, not number of employees.  So that comes from the 2006 EDR handbook.  There was an extensive and exhaustive stakeholdering process on the 2006 EDR handbook, where I think everyone in this room participated in that process, and that is ultimately what the Board decided on, not number of employees that contribute to the category, but number of FTEs.  So that's number 1.

If the SEC is suggesting that we depart from that rule, then I genuinely don't understand why we would depart from it in this case, why we would discriminate against CNPI, when every other LDC is applying the rule.  The Board is accepting the rule and applying it uniformly.  I don't understand why we would do it any differently in this case.

Perhaps there is some confusion involved, because although there are four executives who contribute to the executive functions of the CNPI distribution business units, if we actually -- this is a consolidated proceeding, so I think it is easy to aggregate all of the information in the proceeding amongst the three LDCs.


But if we break it down on an LDC-specific basis, the applicant -- or the application for CNPI Fort Erie has only one full-time equivalent in the executive category.  The application for CNPI Port Colborne has only 0.6 of a full-time equivalent, and the application for CNPI Eastern Ontario Power has only 0.3 of a full time equivalent.

So we are well below three for each of the three LDCs who applied, number 1.  Number 2, even if you add up those three, we get to 1.9 FTEs, so that's still below the three that is set out in the 2006 EDR handbook.

So we just don't understand why we should be expected to provide information that no other LDC has provided.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.

Mr. DeVellis.
Further Submissions by Mr. DeVellis:

MR. DeVELLIS:  I mean -- again, I mean, you know, in our view, we should look at what the Board's objectives were.  We don't think that there is any danger of individual salaries being disclosed.  We're talking about, you know, a tenth of one person's salary and a quarter of another, and you amalgamate it all together to get total executive compensation.


So we don't think there is any possibility that anybody could extrapolate that and discover what the total individual's compensation is but we do think that the level of executive compensation is relevant for this Board, particularly since it's being allocated from CNP's parent company.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, I heard Mr. Taylor say, We simply apply the rule.


I think he used the word “discriminate.”  Why “singled out”?  That's my word.  Why should they be singled out?  And you say it is relevant.  I asked you before, well tell me how material it is and you didn't have a sense of it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  So can you help us more?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I guess I should have said could be relevant because we don't know what it is.  If we discover executive compensation has been increasing at an unreasonable amount over the last several years, then that could be an issue the Board may want to look at.  I can't give you an exact number because I don't have it.


But, again, we don't think that CNP is being discriminated against.  We would make the same argument about another LDC if it were in a similar circumstance.  In this case, it happens to be technically they meet the three FTE cut off, but in reality there are more than three people and they're not -- and those three people's salaries are being will allocated, a fraction of their respective salaries are being allocated to the regulated entity, so it's not -- we don't think any danger of violating the Board's objective of not disclosing individual's salaries.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, do you know if your client has asked a similar interrogatory of any of the other applicants that you have been involved with?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I couldn't tell you and I can't think of another LDC that is in a similar situation, either.


MR. VLAHOS:  Similar situation being?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Having three, more than three actual people and having a fraction of those be derived from the parent company.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, thank you.


[Board Panel confer]

MR. VLAHOS:  Again, I just conferred with my colleague.  Our plan is to break for a half hour and see if we can come to the decision today and, A, come to a decision; and B, be able to communicate a decision with reasons.  So those are the things that we want to discuss in the next half hour.


So if you are kind enough to stick around, if you wish to, we will see you in a half hour.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. MACINTOSH:  I note that in Procedural Order No. 5 on page 2, the order states:
“Following the decision on the motion, the Board will determine the process to be followed for the review of the three rate applications."

Mr. Chair, is it appropriate for Energy Probe to make a submission on scheduling prior to your break?


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. MacIntosh, my preference is to talk to Staff on this.  I am just not -- I don't think we are prepared for this, so you may want to touch base with Staff first.  If you are not satisfied there, then to the extent there is an issue that affects everyone, then we will find a way to bring it forward.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


--- Recess taken at 4:05 p.m.

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1--- Upon resuming at 4:39 p.m.
DECISION:

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

The Panel was able to reach a decision on all three groupings of the issues.

The Panel has not been persuaded that CNPI needs to provide more answers or more complete answers to the interrogatories named by the Schools.  The motion, therefore, compelling the applicant, Canadian Niagara Power Inc., and/or its affiliates to completely answer certain questions refused to be answered from the interrogatories of the Schools dated October 23rd, 2008, supplemental interrogatories of the Schools dated February 4th, 2009, and at the technical conference held February 8th, 2009, is dismissed.

The reasons for the Board's decision will follow in due course.  The Board will issue the next procedural order regarding the next steps of the proceeding.

With that, any questions?  Mr. DeVellis.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, the question that arises is we understand that no further information is required.  However, there were some issues raised in conjunction with -- the reason behind the information, i.e., whether or not the issue of the lease payments being just and reasonable is a live issue in the proceeding.

We are not clear on whether that is the case or not.  Your ruling only pertains to the documents, the additional information --

MR. VLAHOS:  It pertains to the production of the documents that are stipulated in the IRs for Schools.  Nothing stops your client, Mr. DeVellis, to argue that the applicant has not proven its case, and it only relates to what has been brought before the Board by the motion re the production of documents.

Mr. Taylor, any questions?

MR. TAYLOR:  No, I don't.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, everyone.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:42 p.m.
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